944351 NO. FILED
Apr 27, 2017
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 74511-5-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALLYIS, INC.

Petitioner,

٧.

SIMPLICITY CONSULTING INCORPORATED,

Respondent,

and

JEREMY AND NICOLE SCHRODER,

Defendants

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew F. Davis Bracepoint Law, P.S. 2775 Harbor Ave SW, Ste D Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 347-8877 mdavis@bracepointlaw.com

I.	INTRODUCTION					
II.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER					
III.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS					
IV.						
V.	STA	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	A.	Fact	tual Background	.4		
	B.		al Court Proceedings			
	C.		Court of Appeals Proceedings			
		1.				
			a. Unjust Enrichment	.8		
			b. Tortious Interference			
			c. Injurious Falsehood			
			d. Trade Secrets Act			
			e. Consumer Protection Act1	0		
		2.	RCW 4.84.185	0		
		3.	Frivolous Appeal1	1		
VI.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED1					
	A. The Court of Appeals Opinion Conflicts With This		Court of Appeals Opinion Conflicts With This Court's			
		Dec	esisions (RAP 13.4(b)(1))1	1		
		1.	State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 547, 973 P.2d 1049, 1055 (1999) (Advocating against Party)1			
		2.	Young v. Young, 164 Wn.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258 (2007) (Unjust Enrichment)1	2		
		3.	Biggs v. Vail, 119 Wn.2d 129, 830 P.2d 350 (1992) (Biggs I) (Findings)1	15		
		4.	Biggs v. Vail, 124 Wn.2d 193, 876 P.2d 448 (1994) 15 (Burden of Proof)			
		5.	Labriola v. Pollard Grp., Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 100 P.3d 791 (2004) (Noncompete Agreement)1			
	B.	Div	ision One's Opinion Conflicts with Its Own Precedent			
			(RAP 13.4(b)(3)			
		1.	North Coast Electric Co. v. Selig, 136 Wn.App. 636, 151 P.3d 211 (2007) (RCW 4.14.185 and CR 11)1			
		2.	Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC, 161 Wn.App. 474, 254 P.3d 835 (2011) (Unjust enrichment)1			
		3.	Puget Sound Security Patrol, Inc. v. Bates, 197 Wn.App. 461, 389 P.3d 709 (2017) and Bailie Commc'ns, Ltd. v. Trend Bus. Sys., Inc., 61 Wn.App. 151, 153, 810 P.2d 12,	20		
VII	CO	NCI		20		

Table of Authorities

Washington Cases

Bailie Commc'ns, Ltd. v. Trend Bus. Sys., Inc., 61 Wn.App. 151, 810 P.2d 12 (1991)13, 20
Biggs v. Vail, 119 Wn.2d 129, 830 P.2d 350 (1992)6, 15
Biggs v. Vail, 124 Wn.2d 193, 876 P.2d 448 (1994)14
Bill v. Gattavara, 34 Wn.2d 645, 209 P.2d 457 (1949)14
Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc., 119 Wn.2d 210, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992)15
Chemical Bank v. Washington Public Power Supply System, 102 Wn.2d 874, 691 P.2d 524 (1984)12
Irwin Concrete, Inc. v. Sun Coast Properties, Inc., 33 Wn.App. 190, 653 P.2d 1331 (1982)14
Labriola v. Pollard Grp., Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828,100 P.3d 791 (2004)9, 16, 17
Mill & Logging Supply Co. v. W. Tenino Lumber Co., 44 Wn.2d 102, 265 P.2d 807 (1954)14
Nat'l Surety. Corp. v. Immunex Corp., 176 Wn.2d 872, 297 P.3d 688 (2013)13
Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC, 161 Wn.App. 474, 254 P.3d 835 (2011)2, 19
North Coast Electric Co. v. Selig, 136 Wn.App. 636, 151 P.3d 211 (2007)18
Olwell v. Nye & Nissen Co., 26 Wn.2d 282, 173 P.2d 652 (1946)13
Puget Sound Sec. Patrol, Inc. v. Bates, 197 Wn.App. 461, 389 P.3d 709 (2017)2, 20
Riley v. Sturdevant, 12 Wn.App. 808, 532 P.2d 640 (1975)12
State v. Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d 34, 309 P.3d 326 (2013)12

s <i>tate v. sch</i> 169 Wi	aier, n.2d 274, 236 P.3d 858 (2010)12
State v. Stud 137 Wi	<i>dd</i> , n.2d 533, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999)1, 11, 12
Young v. Yo 164 Wi	oung, n.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258 (2007)1, 12
	Federal Cases
Keithly v. Ii 764 F.	ntelius Inc., Supp.2d 1257 (W.D. Wash. 2011)1
	Washington Statutes
RCW 4.84.	18511
	Court Rules
CR 11	
RAP 13.4	11

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Few things are more fundamental to our system of justice than that judges sit as neutral referees of the disputes before them, and not as advocates for either side. In *State v. Studd*, 137 Wn.2d 533, 547, 973 P.2d 1049, 1055 (1999), this Court said that "we are not in the business of inventing unbriefed arguments for parties." Courts do not act as advocates for either party. However, that is precisely what occurred here.

Allyis, Inc. sued Simplicity Consulting, Inc. for unjust enrichment over the benefit that Simplicity obtained from a former employee's violation of a noncompete agreement. The essential legal question in this case is whether that claim was frivolous. Simplicity argued that unjust enrichment requires the plaintiff to prove "a benefit conferred on the defendant by the plaintiff." Allyis argued that the element is that the "benefit is at the plaintiff's expense."

Simplicity relied on the definition of unjust enrichment in *Black's Law Dictionary*, which this Court quoted in *Young v. Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258 (2007). However, when the *Young* court stated the elements of unjust enrichment in its own words, it stated the element as: "the received benefit is at the plaintiff's expense." *Id.* at 484-85. When a defendant made the same argument to United States District Court Judge Robert Lasnik, he called it "misleading" and adopted the Supreme Court's wording. *Keithly v. Intelius Inc.*, 764 F. Supp.2d 1257 (W.D. Wash. 2011). King County Superior Court Judge Holly Hill, however, agreed with Simplicity and found Allyis' claim frivolous. She imposed \$60,000 of

sanctions against petitioner Allyis and its counsel, Matthew Davis, for filing a frivolous action.

Allyis appealed to Division One of the Court of Appeals, and the assigned panel included two judges who had signed post-*Young* opinions stating the element as the "benefit is at the plaintiff's expense." *Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC*, 161 Wn.App. 474, 254 P.3d 835 (2011) (Judge Mary Kay Becker); *Puget Sound Sec. Patrol, Inc. v. Bates*, 197 Wn.App. 461, 389 P.3d 709 (2017) (Judge Marlin Appelwick). Judge Becker also authored two unpublished opinions while the appeal was pending that stated the element as the "benefit is at the plaintiff's expense." Appendix at A-26 and A-38 to A-39.

Moreover, *Puget Sound* was a case asserting an unjust enrichment claim against the wife of a former employee, and the court ruled that the claim at least arguably satisfied the benefit element. In this case, however, Judge Appelwick authored an opinion holding that Allyis' claim was frivolous because "Allyis had to show that it conferred a benefit on Simplicity." Opinion at 11.

Incredibly, the month after authoring the opinion in this case, Judge Appelwick wrote the opinion in another case, *Dutcher v. Holman* (Appendix A-40 to A-46), where he again stated the element as the "benefit is at the plaintiff's expense" despite his ruling in this case that this wording is frivolous. Appendix A-41.

Nothing about this case is or ever was frivolous. The unjust enrichment claim had both factual and legal merit. The remaining claims have never been tested or examined because Simplicity never presented evidence or argument about them, and the trial court could not make findings about them because it had no evidence to consider. The Court of Appeals made its own findings and determinations for those claims based on an incomplete record and its own conjecture. Upholding \$60,000 of sanctions for asserting meritorious claims would undermine the validity of the entire legal system and violate every principle that this Court has stated about sanctions. This Court should grant review and reverse.

II. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Allyis, Inc, and its counsel Matthew Davis ask this Court to accept review.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

This Court should review all of the February 27, 2017 decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals (Appendix A-1 to A-23) and the March 28, 2017 Order denying Reconsideration (Appendix A-24).

IV. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that the claims asserted by Allyis were frivolous?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to dismiss the RCW 4.84.185 claim for failure to show that all claims were frivolous?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err in awarding CR 11 sanctions that were not properly supported?
- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that this appeal is frivolous?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background.

Allyis provides contract workers to companies like Microsoft. CP 450 at ¶ 2. It employed Jeremy Schroder ("Schroder") for twelve years, during which time he advanced from an entry position to management. CP 451-52 at ¶ 7; 452-53 at ¶ 9. Schroder signed noncompete and nonsolicitation agreements shortly after he commenced employment. CP 452 at ¶ 8.

In 2014, Schroder abruptly left Allyis and immediately began working for Simplicity. CP 452-53 at ¶ 9. Simplicity learned of the existence of the noncompete agreement during one of Schroder's job interviews. CP 465-66. While Schroder was employed by Simplicity, Simplicity expressly authorized him on at least one occasion to solicit an Allyis employee.

- Q. To your knowledge, did Mr. Schroder while he was employed by Simplicity contact the people that he worked with at Allyis for the purpose of recruiting them to Simplicity?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And were you aware of that when it happened?
- A. In one instance, yes.
- * * * *
- Q. So how was it that you knew that Mr. Schroder was making contact with someone that he knew because of his relationship at Allyis?
- A. He told me about one instance where this woman We had had a client meeting and the client needed a specific skill set. It was a current Simplicity client and he told me about someone he knew that had that skill set and she was looking for a new role because hers was ending on June 30th of 2014.
- Q. So did you have Mr. Schroder contact that person about the possibility of --
- A. I didn't have him do anything. He did it on his own.
- Q. Well, if he told you he knew somebody who was perfect for the position -- He hadn't contacted them about this position yet obviously?
- A. Right.

- Q. So did he have any direction from you one way or the other as to what to do or did you just say oh, that's interesting?
- A. I basically said oh, okay. Great.

CP 467-70. All told, at least six Allyis employees followed Schroder to Simplicity, where they continued to work for the same companies on the same projects that they had with Allyis. CP 452-53 at ¶ 9. Simplicity received the benefits of Allyis' efforts for those employees.

B. Trial Court Proceedings.

Allyis brought this action against Schroder and Simplicity alleging claims for breach of the noncompete agreement, tortious interference with contract, injurious falsehoods, Trade Secrets, and violation of the Consumer Protection Act. CP 1-11. Allyis later amended its Complaint to replace those claims with one for unjust enrichment. CP 31-37.

After Allyis voluntarily dismissed its claims, Simplicity brought a Petition for Fees under RCW 4.84.185. CP 319-26. The motion was six pages long and sought relief only under RCW 4.84.185. CP 320 at Section III. The substantive argument in the motion was that "Allyis' unjust enrichment claim was advanced without reasonable cause because Allyis was well aware that it never conferred any benefit on Simplicity." CP 323. Simplicity's only reference to the original four claims in the case was its assertion that "Allyis Recognized its Original Claims Lacked Merit" in a section heading. CP 322.

Simplicity also argued that if Allyis blamed Davis for filing a frivolous lawsuit, it should award CR 11 sanctions.

In the event Allyis responds by attempting to blame its counsel for pursuing a frivolous claim, or Allyis' counsel, on his own, accepts responsibility for pursuing a frivolous claim, the Court should exercise its discretion and award Simplicity its fees and costs against Allyis and its counsel, jointly and severally, as sanctions under CR 11. See, e.g., Escude, 117 Wn.App. at 193-94.

CP 324. Allyis never made that argument, and the condition precedent for the CR 11 motion was not satisfied. However, instead of awarding sanctions under either RCW 4.84.185 or CR 11 as requested, Judge Hill awarded them on both grounds. CP 478-82. She did so without any evidence or argument to support the CR 11 award and without making any specific findings in support of it as required by *Biggs v. Vail*, 119 Wn.2d 129, 137, 830 P.2d 350, 354 (1992) ("*Biggs I*). CP 428.

Judge Hill signed the proposed order without making a single change to it. CP 478-82. Allyis brought a Motion for Reconsideration, and Judge Hill called for a response. CP 485-86. Simplicity responded by again ignoring the other claims asserted by Allyis and again asserting that Allyis had the burden to prove that its claims were not frivolous. CP 499.

Judge Hill then wrote a new order attempting to fill the holes in her prior decision, but she had no evidence or argument about the other claims. CP 518-24. She again said that *Young* required the plaintiff to confer a direct benefit on the defendant, and she made sweeping and conclusory findings that all of the claims were frivolous even though she had heard no evidence or argument about them. CP 518-24; CP 521 at ¶ 9.

The following constitute the entirety of the findings that Judge Hill made in support of the sanctions:

* * * *

^{9.} The Court also finds that Allyis' original claims against Simplicity for (1) tortious interference with a contractual relationship; (2) violation of the Washington CPA; (3) injurious falsehood; and (4) violation of the UTSA were frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause.

- 22. In light of the facts and circumstances of the entire case, the claims asserted by Allyis were frivolous and not advanced with reasonable cause in violation of RCW 4.84.185.
- 23. The four claims against Simplicity in the Verified Complaint were not well grounded in fact. Dkt. No. 1.
- 24. The four claims against Simplicity in the Verified Complaint were not warranted by existing law, nor did Allyis present evidence or argument suggesting it was attempting in good faith to modify existing law.
- 27. Allyis and Mr. Davis failed to perform a reasonable inquiry before filing the Verified Complaint against Simplicity. They also failed to perform a reasonable inquiry before filing the First Amended Complaint against Simplicity. Dkt. No. 13.
- 28. Allyis and Mr. Davis filed the four claims in the Verified Complaint and the unjust enrichment claim in the First Amended Complaint against Simplicity for the improper purpose of bringing, and keeping, Simplicity's presumably deep pockets into the litigation.

CP 521-523.

C. Court of Appeals Proceedings.

Allyis appealed to Division One of the Court of Appeals, which affirmed in an unpublished decision that made entirely and new and different arguments and ruled against Allyis on the merits of claims that had never been briefed or argued, and which relied heavily on earlier discovery orders were "subsumed in and superseded by the order on reconsideration. CP 524.

1. CR 11.

The court first addressed CR 11 and stated that courts "must make findings that specify the actionable conduct to impose CR 11 sanctions for a baseless complaint." Opinion at 5. Accordingly, the court should have then examined the trial court's findings to verify whether they satisfied that requirement, but it did not do so. The Court of Appeals instead proceeded to make its own findings and determinations about the claims as if it were deciding the facts after a bench trial.

The court found Judge Hill's collective and conclusory findings adequate to support her decision. The court said that Findings of Fact 9 and 22-28 set forth above were sufficient because Judge Hill

made not one, but both <u>Biggs</u> findings: that the claims were not grounded in fact or law and Allyis and Davis failed to perform a reasonable inquiry before filing the original and amended complaints, and that the claims were filed for the improper purpose of bringing Simplicity's deep pockets into the litigation.

Opinion at 7. According to the court it did not matter that those findings lacked any detailed information. *Id.* The Court of Appeals then went through the claims and purported to explain why they were frivolous. Opinion at 7-18. However, all of the reasons given by the court were brand new and had never been advanced by the parties before.

a. Unjust Enrichment.

The unjust enrichment claim presents a question of law. The parties' disagreement concerns whether unjust enrichment requires proof that the plaintiff directly conferred a benefit on the defendant or proof that the defendant received a benefit at the plaintiff's expense. Although Allyis presented extensive analysis and argument about the legal standard, the court did not discuss or acknowledge any of it. The court said that lower courts have "clarified" that

Under Young, Allyis had to show that it conferred a benefit on Simplicity, and the circumstances made it unjust for Simplicity to retain the benefit without paying. 164 Wn.2d at 484-85. Allyis never argued that it conferred a benefit on Simplicity, contending instead that Schroder improperly bestowed profits from Allyis employees and clients on Simplicity. Given these allegations, we conclude that substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings that Allyis's unjust enrichment claim was not well grounded in fact or warranted by existing law or a good faith argument to modify the law.

Opinion at 11.

b. Tortious Interference.

As set forth above, Judge Hill made no specific findings about Allyis' tortious interference claim. Division One, however, came up with its own arguments. First, it said that while Allyis discussed the business expectancy element, it "never elicited evidence that could establish the other four elements of tortious interference." Opinion at 12. Because Allyis did not present that evidence, the court ruled that the claim had no merit and was frivolous. Opinion at 12. That argument was never made by Simplicity, nor did Judge Hill make any findings about it. It was a brand new argument made by the Court of Appeals in its decision.

The court then said that Allyis had not proven a business expectancy either because the noncompete agreement lacked consideration. Opinion at 12. It said that *Labriola v. Pollard Grp., Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 828, 833,100 P.3d 791 (2004), held that "later training and continued employment alone are not sufficient to constitute independent consideration" as a matter of law. Opinion at 14.

Simplicity's Brief never cites *Labriola*. It does mention consideration, but it never cites any authority or makes any reasoned argument. Simplicity's Brief at 2, 6, 7. Judge Hill's orders never mention consideration either. This is an argument that the Court of Appeals developed on its own.

c. Injurious Falsehood.

With respect to the injurious falsehood claim, the Court of Appeals said that "Allyis has not alleged any action by Simplicity that would meet

the elements." Opinion at 15. But neither Simplicity nor the trial court ever identified or discussed any element of the claim. *See* Simplicity's Brief at 9, 23. Allyis never had a reason to present an argument on evidence that was not raised. Once again, the Court of Appeals made its own arguments.

d. Trade Secrets Act.

The same is true for the Trade Secrets Act. Simplicity referred to the claim twice in lists of the claims, but never discussed or argued them. As it did with the other claims, the Court of Appeals said that the Trade Secrets Act claim was frivolous because Allyis "did not provide any additional information in declarations or through discovery that would support its allegation that Simplicity used confidential information to recruit Allyis employees." Opinion at 17.

e. Consumer Protection Act.

The Court of Appeals said that the Consumer Protection Act claim was derivative of the others and failed for the same reasons. Opinion at 17. Simplicity again mentioned the claim twice in lists. Simplicity's Brief at 9, 23. Judge Hill's global findings are set forth above.

2. RCW 4.84.185.

Division One then moved to the question of RCW 4.84.185. The court noted that "Before fees may be awarded under this statute, the trial court must enter findings that the action in its entirety is frivolous." The court noted that the trial court's findings on RCW 4.84.185 dealt with the other claims asserted by Allyis "collectively" and then said that it would do the

same. Opinion at 19. Although a significant part of petitioners' argument was that trial courts cannot treat claims collectively, the Court of Appeals never addressed that question. It then relied on its discussion above for each of the claims. *Id.*

3. Frivolous Appeal.

For good measure, Division One then held that Allyis' appeal itself was frivolous. Opinion at 23. It could not even find a single debatable issue.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the grounds for accepting review. This petition is based on RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

A. The Court of Appeals Opinion Conflicts With This Court's Decisions (RAP 13.4(b)(1)).

The Court of Appeals decision directly contradicts numerous decisions of this Court.

1. State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999).

Division One's Opinion reads more like a brief than a judicial decision. The court scoured the entire record for anything to support Judge Hill's decision, but it did not even give serious consideration to the arguments raised by petitioners. Instead of discussing the adequacy of the trial court's findings, Division One made its own. Courts "are not in the business of inventing unbriefed arguments for parties *sua sponte*." *State v. Studd*, 137 Wn.2d 533, 547, 973 P.2d 1049, 1055 (1999); *State v. Saintcalle*, 178 Wn.2d 34, 52, 309 P.3d 326, 338 (2013); *State v. Schaler*, 169 Wn.2d 274, 291, 236 P.3d 858, 867 (2010). *See Riley v. Sturdevant*,

12 Wn.App. 808, 811, 532 P.2d 640, 643 (1975) ("it is not appropriate for this court to assume the role of advocate for respondents in addition to being arbiter of the case and we will not do so"). This Court should grant review and disapprove that treatment of appeals.

2. Young v. Young, 164 Wn.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258 (2007).

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