FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/26/2017 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94435-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 74511-5-I

ALLYIS, INC. and MATTHEW F. DAVIS,

Petitioners,

v.

SIMPLICITY CONSULTING INC.,

Respondent.

Answer to Petition for Discretionary Review

Submitted by:

Jeffrey A. James Jennifer A. Parda-Aldrich SEBRIS BUSTO JAMES 14205 S.E. 36th Street, Suite 325 Bellevue, WA 98006 Tel: (425) 454-4233

Fax: (425) 453-9005

Attorneys for Respondent

ORIGINAL

filed via

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

III. ARGUMENT SUPPORTING DENIAL OF REVIEW

A. The Opinion Affirming the Trial Court's Sanction Award is Consistent with this Court's Decisions in Studd, Young, Biggs I & II and Labriola.

Petitioners seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). In an "everything but the kitchen sink" approach, they identify multiple opinions of this Court with which they claim the Opinion is inconsistent.¹⁶ As addressed below, they are wrong.

1. The Opinion is Consistent with Studd.

Allyis and Davis claim that the appellate court failed to give any "serious consideration" to their asserted arguments or to otherwise assess the trial court's findings. See Petition, at 11. Instead, they claim the appellate court impermissibly acted as an "advocate" for Simplicity—in contradiction with this Court's opinion in State v. Studd 17—by making its "own findings" in the Opinion. See Petition, at 11. Their argument has no merit.

In *Studd*, criminal defendants contested whether erroneous jury instructions formed a basis for new trials, although the instructions were

¹⁶ See Petition, at 11-17.

^{17 137} Wn.2d 533, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999).

requested by the defendants, thereby implicating the "invited error doctrine." See Studd, 137 Wn.2d at 545-46. In upholding convictions where the instructions were invited by the defendants, the majority noted that the dissenting opinion sought to avoid the invited error doctrine by "assigning significance" to a previously decided opinion by this Court in which the doctrine was implicated but the court gave no consideration to whether the defendant had proposed the incorrect jury instruction. Id., 137 Wn. 2d at 547. In dismissing the dissenting opinion as factually inaccurate, the majority additionally noted that the dissent had "invent[ed]" a new argument not previously raised by the parties. Id.

In contrast here, Simplicity has clearly asserted that Allyis' entire action was not grounded in fact or law and asserted for an improper purpose. That the appellate court found merit in Simplicity's position does not support a finding the appellate court impermissibly served as an "advocate" for Simplicity. Furthermore, the language in *Studd* upon which Allyis and Simplicity rely is commentary by the majority addressing the merits (or lack thereof) of the dissenting opinion. It is not the case holding and cannot serve as a basis upon which to render the Opinion "inconsistent" with *Studd*. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1). *Studd* is simply inapposite.

2. The Opinion is Consistent with Young.

¹⁸ The "invited error doctrine" precludes a party from obtaining relief from error caused by the party's own act or omission. *Studd*, 137 Wn.2d at 546.

Allyis and Davis erroneously assert that the Opinion is inconsistent with this Court's decision in *Young v. Young.*¹⁹ In so doing, Allyis and Davis continue to misinterpret the correct legal standard for an unjust enrichment claim by erroneously asserting that, under *Young*, unjust enrichment requires only that the defendant received a benefit at the plaintiff's expense—not that the benefit was conferred on the defendant by the plaintiff. *See* Petition, at 12-15.

The appellate court properly rejected Petitioners' assertion, concluding that the trial court did not erroneously interpret *Young* as requiring the plaintiff to directly confer a benefit on the defendant for an unjust enrichment claim to succeed. Opinion, at 9-10. As the appellate court recognized: (1) this Court in *Young* set forth the elements of an unjust enrichment claim "in its own words" by recognizing, *inter alia*, that a defendant must receive a benefit "at the plaintiff's expense"; and (2) Washington courts have since clarified the elements established by *Young* as requiring that the benefit be conferred by the plaintiff.²⁰ None of this Court's opinions relied upon by Petitioners hold otherwise.²¹

¹⁹ 164 Wn.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008).

²⁰ See Opinion, at 9-10 (citing Young, 164 Wn.2d at 484-85; Austin v. Ettl, 171 Wn. App. 82, 92, 286 P.3d 85 (2012) ("[A] plaintiff conferred a benefit upon the defendant"); Nat'l Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp., 162 Wn. App. 762, 778 n.11, 256 P.3d 439 (2011) ("[A] party must show a benefit conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff."), affd, 176 Wn.2d 872, 297 P.2d 688 (2013); Cox v. O'Brien, 150 Wn. App. 24, 37, 206 P.3d 682 (2009) ("[O]ne party must have conferred a benefit to the other"). As addressed in detail below, Allyis and Davis' additionally assert that the Opinion is inconsistent with decisions of the appellate court regarding the correct legal standard of an unjust enrichment claim. See Petition, at 19-20.

²¹ In their Petition, Allyis and Davis cite to, but provide little analysis of, five opinions by this Court that purportedly contradict the appellate court's interpretation of *Young*. See Petition, at 13-14. Notably, four of the decisions were issued before *Young* and were not cited in or

Moreover, in submitting that this Court "should rule" that the elements of an unjust enrichment claim require that the defendant's received benefit is "at the plaintiff's expense"—not conferred at the plaintiff's expense—Petitioners seek a *modification* of existing law. *See* Petition, at 14-15. Such an argument is untimely and underscores the frivolity of Allyis' asserted claim.²²

3. The Opinion is Consistent with *Biggs I & II*.

Oddly, in asserting that the Opinion is inconsistent with the elements required for CR 11 sanctions under *Biggs v. Vail*, Allyis and Davis claim that whether Allyis was able to prove its asserted claims was never the question in this case. See Petition, at 15. To the contrary, whether the asserted claims were well grounded in fact or law—and thus capable of being proven—was precisely at issue with regard to Simplicity's sanction request. See Biggs II, 124 Wn.2d at 201 (for CR 11 sanctions to be imposed, the court must find, inter alia, that "the claim was not grounded in fact or law"). Consistent with the requirements of Biggs II, the appellate court properly held that the trial court did not abuse its

otherwise relied upon by this Court in Young. See Olwell v. Nye & Nissen Co., 26 Wn.2d 282, 283, 173 P.2d 652, 652 (1946); Bill v. Gattavara, 34 Wn.2d 645, 651, 209 P.2d 457, 460 (1949); Mill & Logging Supply Co. v. W. Tenino Lumber Co., 44 Wn.2d 102, 113, 265 P.2d 807, 813 (1954), Irwin Concrete, Inc. v. Sun Coast Properties, Inc., 33 Wn. App. 190, 653 P.2d 1331, 1334 (1982). Thus, even if viewed as contradictory—which Simplicity does not concede—Young would supersede them. As Allyis and Davis concede, the remaining case—Natl Surety. Corp. v. Immunex Corp., 176 Wn.2d 872, 899, 297, 13 P.3d 688, 701 (2013)—did not reach an issue related to unjust enrichment, which was addressed only in the dissenting opinion.

The appellate court expressly recognized the same. See Opinion, at 10 note 4 ("Allyis never argued that the rule announced in **Young** should be extended, modified, or reversed—instead, it argued for an interpretation of the case that is not supported by the law.").

²³ 119 Wn.2d 129, 830 P.2d 350 (1992) ("*Biggs II*")124 Wn.2d 193, 201, 876 P.2d 448 (1994) ("*Biggs II*").

discretion in imposing CR 11 sanctions after finding that none of the asserted claims were well grounded in fact or warranted by existing law, nor did Davis' conduct throughout the litigation reflect that they had been brought in good faith.

Petitioners' assertion that the Opinion is inconsistent with the requirements under *Biggs I* that an order awarding sanctions under CR 11 must "specify the sanctionable conduct in its order" is equally without merit. Remarkably, Petitioners allege that the trial court's findings were "perfunctory... because [the court] had no idea what Davis did or did not do." *See* Petition, at 15. To the contrary—and as set forth in detail in the trial court's order—the court based its sanction award on Allyis' and Davis' failure to allege sufficient facts or produce any evidence in support of the asserted claims (including in opposition to summary judgment); their refusal to engage in discovery; their recurring contempt of court; and their threat to exploit voluntary dismissal as a weapon. (CP 520-21, 523) The trial court's specific factual findings in this regard are consistent with *Biggs I*, as the appellate court properly concluded.

4. The Opinion is Consistent with *Labriola*.

Allyis and Simplicity contend that the appellate court's finding that Schroder's continued employment did not serve as valid independent consideration for the noncompete agreement is inconsistent with *Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc.*²⁴ Once again, their contention has no merit.

^{24 152} Wn.2d 828, 100 P.3d 791 (2004).

This Court in *Labriola* held that a noncompete agreement entered into during an existing employment relationship is unenforceable unless supported by "independent additional consideration," such as "increased wages, a promotion, a bonus, a fixed term of employment, or perhaps access to protected information." *Labriola*, 152 Wn.2d at 834. Consistent with this holding, the appellate court properly concluded that no valid independent consideration existed where "nothing in the noncompete agreement or Schroder's circumstances of employment suggests that he continued to be employed or that he was promoted as a result of his promise not to compete." Opinion, at 14.

Petitioners claim that the appellate court incorrectly interpreted *Labriola* as standing holding that continued employment may never form a basis for independent consideration and did not consider facts specific to Schroder's employment. *See* Petition, at 17. In fact, the appellate court considered the record evidence and concluded that "[n]othing in the record would support an inference, let alone a conclusion, that Schroder's later promotion was given as consideration for a noncompete agreement." *See* Opinion, at 14.

B. The Opinion Affirming the Trial Court's Order Imposing Sanctions is Consistent with its Decisions in Selig, Norcon, Bailie, and Bates.

²⁵ Allyis and Davis additionally attempt to rely on Justice Madsen's concurring opinion in which they allege she "objected" to the majority's ruling that whether continued employment is sufficient consideration should be determined on a case-by-case basis. *See* Petition, at 17. In fact, Justice Madsen's concurring opinion was made in order "to *clarify* that continued at-will employment is never sufficient consideration for a noncompete agreement formed after the outset of employment." *See id.*, at 843 (emphasis added).

Petitioners also seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), identifying multiple appellate court opinions with which they claim the Opinion is inconsistent. As addressed in detail below, their claim has no merit.

1. The Opinion is Consistent with Selig.

Allyis and Davis claim that the Opinion is inconsistent with the requirements under *North Coast Electric Co. v. Selig*⁵⁶ that an award of attorney fees under RCW 4.84.185 and CR 11 contain specific findings regarding the frivolous nature of the asserted claims and identifying the pleadings that constitute a CR 11 violation.²⁷ *See* Petition, at 18. They erroneously claim that the Opinion "makes no attempt" to satisfy this requirement. *Id*.

As described above, the trial court's Amended Order explicitly found that Allyis presented no evidence in support of any of the asserted claims, both in the Verified Complaint and through its refusal to engage in discovery—including by refusing to comply with the court's orders compelling discovery and holding Allyis in contempt of court. (CP 518-524) The trial court specifically identified the Verified Complaint and Amended Complaint as the pleadings forming the basis for the CR 11 violation, finding that no reasonable inquiry was made before filing each and that each was brought for the improper purpose of

²⁶ 136 Wn.App. 636, 650, 151 P.3d 211 (2007).

Their assertion here is similar to their claim that the Opinion is inconsistent with this Court's opinion in *Biggs I*, which requires that an order awarding sanctions under CR 11 must "specify the sanctionable conduct in its order." *See supra.*

"bringing, and keeping, Simplicity's presumably deep pockets in the litigation." (CP 520-21, 523) For each of these reasons, the appellate court correctly upheld the trial court's sanction award, and the Opinion is not inconsistent with *Selig*.

2. The Opinion is Consistent with Norcon Builders, Bailie and Bates.

In its Opinion, the appellate court properly rejected Petitioners' interpretation of *Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC*, and *Bailie Commc'ns, Ltd. v. Trend Bus. Sys., Inc.* regarding the legal standard for an unjust enrichment claim. The Opinion is not inconsistent with either decision, nor is it inconsistent with *Puget Sound Security Patrol, Inc. v. Bates.* **

The appellate court accurately concluded that both *Norcon* and *Bailie* "are consistent with a requirement that that plaintiff confers a benefit to the defendant." *See* Opinion, at 10. Indeed, as the appellate court aptly recognized, *Bailie* explicitly identifies one element of an unjust enrichment as "a benefit conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff." Opinion, at 9 (citing *Bailie*, 61 Wn. App. 151 at 159) (emphasis added). In *Norcon*, Division One of the Court of Appeals similarly identifies a plaintiff-conferred benefit as a requirement:

The mere fact that a *defendant has received a benefit from the plaintiff* is insufficient alone to justify recovery. The doctrine of unjust enrichment applies only if the circumstances of the benefits received or retained make it unjust for the defendant to keep the benefit without paying.

^{* 161} Wn.App. 474, 254 P.3d 835 (2011).

² 61 Wn.App. 151, 810 P.2d 12 (1991).

³⁰ 197 Wn.App. 461, 389 P.3d 709 (2017).

Norcon, 161 Wn. App. at 490 (emphasis added). Petitioners' reliance on Bates is equally misplaced where Division One specifies that "enrichment alone will not suffice" for an unjust enrichment claim. Bates, 197 Wn.App., at 475. Instead, "it is critical that the enrichment be unjust both under the circumstances and as between the two parties to the transaction." Id. (emphasis added). Thus, the language in Bailie, Norcon and Bates each identifies one element of an unjust enrichment claim as a plaintiff-conferred benefit on the defendant. As the appellate court correctly concluded, "[t]hat courts have phrased this requirement in different ways does not create two competing tests, but a single test explained in several ways." Opinion, at 10.

C. This Court Should Award Fees and Costs Per RAP 18.1(j).

In their Petition, Allyis and Davis have again submitted the same frivolous arguments, requiring Simplicity to incur further expense in responding. Simplicity respectfully requests an award of fees and costs per RAP 18.1(j).

IV. CONCLUSION

For each of the above reasons, this Court should deny review.